RECEIVED

Mar 08 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE
Court Of General Sessions
The Honorable Alex Kinlaw Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001621

THE STATE,

Appellant,

v.

CHRISTOPHER STEPHEN QUICK,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, 13th Judicial Circuit

305 E North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864)467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court abused its discretion and committed a reversible error of law in its decision to award credit for time served when Respondent was not on monitored house arrest.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Respondent Christopher Quick for Criminal Sexual Conduct with a minor in the second degree. On August 7, 2023 he pled guilty, before the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr. Respondent was sentenced to a 20-year sentence suspended to 10 years in the Department of Corrections with 5 years of probation. Respondent was given credit for 992 days spent on GPS monitoring prior to his conviction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 30, 2019, Victim disclosed that her uncle (Respondent) sexually assaulted her the night before. (Plea Tr. p. 7). The incident occurred in Respondent's home. (Plea Tr. p. 7). Victim also disclosed that on the night of the incident she slept with Respondent in the master bedroom while the wife and children of Respondent slept in the other room. (Plea Tr. p. 7-8).

Victim was transported to the hospital, where a SANE examination was performed. (Plea Tr. p. 7). Victim disclosed in a forensic interview that she was assaulted each time she stayed at Respondent's home since she was between seven or eight years old. (Plea Tr. p. 7). Respondent's DNA was found in the form of sperm cells on Victim's vaginal swabs and on Victim's underwear cuttings. (Plea Tr. p. 8).

Respondent was arrested and as a condition of bail (12-19-19) was placed on "GPS monitoring." (Motion Tr. p. 10). The monitoring documented Respondent's location. (Motion Tr. p. 4). Respondent was not placed on GPS with "HIP", where he would only be permitted to leave for work, school, church, medical reasons, or to speak with an attorney. (Motion Tr. p. 4). Respondent was only given "exclusionary zones" around the Victim's residence and instructed to have no contact with her. (Motion Tr. p. 4). Thus, Respondent was placed on GPS monitoring to make sure he did not go near the victim. But was not ordered to remain on house arrest during the time he was released on bond.

Respondent plead guilty as charged on August 7, 2023. (Plea Tr. p. 21). Respondent was given credit for the 992 days served on GPS monitoring. (Plea Tr. p. 20). On September 1, 2023, a motion to reconsider was heard. (Motion Tr. p. 14). The State argued that §24-13-40 was unambiguous in that it stated credit may only be given for time spent "under monitored house arrest." Respondent argued that the statute does not refer to HIP, and that it simply says

monitored house arrest. (Motion Tr. p. 4). Respondent pointed to the contract where it states that, other than for work and counseling, Respondent could only leave with GCDC approval. (Motion Tr. p. 8). The State responded by claiming this was a standard contract and that since there was no HIP Respondent was free to leave his house. (Plea Tr. p. 10). The Court denied the State's motion to reconsider. (Plea Tr. p. 12-13).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Palmer, 415 S.C. 502, 511, 783 S.E.2d 823, 827 (Ct. App. 2016). When reviewing a sentencing issue on appeal, an appellate court will only interfere with a circuit court judge's sentencing decision in rare and unusual circumstances in light of the broad discretion afforded to the circuit court judge on such matters. State v. Ferguson, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952).

ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion and committed a reversible error of law in its decision to award credit for time served when Respondent was not on monitored house arrest.

In South Carolina, sentencing judges are vested with broad discretion to impose a sentence falling within the statutory limits upon an offender convicted of a crime. State v. Sidell, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974). Entitlement to credit for “time served” toward a criminal sentence is restricted by statute.¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40. Pursuant to the statute, prisoners are only entitled to credit for time served pre-trial in limited circumstances. Id. Typically, prisoners must be given credit for time served for incarceration prior to trial and may be given credit for time spent “under monitored house arrest.” Id. Sentencing judges in our state are vested with complete discretion as to whether to award credit toward a sentence to an individual awaiting trial while on monitored *house arrest*. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40; State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 245, 226 S.E.2d 896, 897 (1976) (explaining circuit court judges in South Carolina ordinarily have wide sentencing discretion).

Where the terms of a statute are clear, the court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning. Paschal v. State Election Comm'n, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995). The statute must be given its ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand its scope. Durham v. United Companies Financial Corp., 331 S.C. 600, 503 S.E.2d 465 (1998). The sentence should not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion; an

¹ § 24-13-40- (c) the court shall have designated a specific time for the commencement of the service of the sentence, the computation of the time served must be calculated from the date of the commencement of the service of the sentence. In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest.

abuse of discretion occurs when the court's sentence is based on an error of law. State v. Pogue, 430 S.C. 384, 386, 844 S.E.2d 397, 398 (Ct. App. 2020); State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 868 (Ct. App. 2005).

In State v. Field, our Supreme Court noted it was inclined to determine the trial court erred in awarding credit for time served, even though the Court ultimately determined the issue was not preserved for review. State v. Field, 429 S.C. 578, 840 S.E.2d 548 (2020). In Field, the Respondent plead guilty and was awarded credit for sixteen months' time served. Id. 429 S.C. 580 840 S.E.2d 549. The State presented a "strong argument" on the merits that Respondent was not eligible for time served because the court took him off house arrest; meaning Respondent was only on electronic monitoring. Id. Nonetheless, the issue was not preserved for review. Id. The issue was not preserved for review because at the motion to reconsider, the State only raised the issue of whether the sentence was consistent with the court's intent. Id. 429 S.C. 581 840 S.E.2d 550.

First, unlike the issue in Field, the issue is reserved for review. At the motion for reconsideration, the State argued that the argued §24-13-40 did not permit Respondent to receive credit for the time he spent on GPS monitoring. The State noted Respondent was not placed on GPS with "HIP", where he would only be permitted to leave for work, school, church, medical reasons, or to speak with an attorney. (Motion Tr. p. 4). Since the State raised this issue at the motion to reconsider, the issue is preserved for review.

Next, the Court committed an error of law when awarding credit for time Appellant spent on monitored release with no order of house arrest since no provision of South Carolina law allows for such credit to be awarded. Cf. State v. Taub, 336 S.C. 310, 318, 519 S.E.2d 797, 802 (Ct. App. 1999) (reversing Taub's sentence and remanding for resentencing because his sentence

fell below the mandatory minimum sentencing limits established for his offense). Respondent was free to go and come as he pleased, so long as he did not approach the “exclusionary zones” around the Victim’s residence. (Motion Tr. p. 4). Correspondingly, the bail form spells out that Respondent “must be placed on GPS monitor with exclusionary zone around victim’s residence”; not that Respondent was to be placed on house arrest.

At the motion for reconsideration, Respondent pointed to the contract where it states that, other than for work and counseling, Respondent could only leave with GCDC approval. (Motion Tr. p. 8). However, the contract also states that Respondent is on “GPS ONLY Monitoring.” (Electronic Monitoring Information p. 1). The language in the contract is designed to be a standard contract that is suitable to encompass all users. Respondent was not placed on monitored house arrest as evidenced by the bail forms and the “GPS ONLY” language on the client orientation form. The court committed an error of law and abused its discretion when awarding Respondent credit for time served because he was not on monitored house arrest. Accordingly, this Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION