RECEIVED

Jul 25 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER S. QUICK,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001621

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July of 2023, over three years after arrest in December of 2019, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Respondent, Christopher Stephen Quick, for criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree, indictment #2020-GS-23-004140. (R. p. 43-44). On August 7, 2023, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr. and pled guilty as charged in the indictment. The plea was entered without negotiations or recommendation. (R. p. 45-46; R. p. 15, lines 10-11). Rachel Kepley represented Respondent at the plea. Anthony McCollum prosecuted the case. Judge Kinlaw sentenced Respondent to twenty (20) years provided that upon the service of ten (10) the balance was suspended with five (5) years of probation. The judge required Respondent to register as a sex offender and ordered sex offender counseling while on probation. The judge additionally gave Respondent credit for 992 days of time served. (R. p. 45-46; R. p. 27, lines 1-12).

On August 17, 2023, the State filed a motion to reconsider sentence. (R. p. 4). On September 1, 2023, a hearing was held before Judge Kinlaw on the motion to reconsider sentence. Rachel Kepley again represented Respondent and Anthony McCollum represented the State. Judge Kinlaw denied the motion to reconsider sentence in a written order signed October 2, 2023. (R. p. 3). The State filed a notice of intent to appeal on October 16, 2023. The initial brief of Appellant was filed on March 8, 2024. This initial brief of Respondent follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial judge has broad discretion in sentencing within statutory limits. Brooks v. State, 325 S.C. 269, 271, 481 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1997). “ ‘In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.’ State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion; an abuse of discretion occurs ‘when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.’ In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).” State v. Pogue, 430 S.C. 384, 386, 844 S.E.2d 397, 398 (Ct. App. 2020).

ARGUMENT

The plea judge acted within his broad discretion by giving Respondent credit for the time he served on GPS monitoring because the monitoring imposed was the equivalent of monitored house arrest.

During the plea the prosecutor told the judge, “Mr. Quick does have credit for one day in jail and, I believe, 991 days on GPS monitoring.” (R. p. 14, lines 1-2). The plea was entered without negotiations or recommendation. (R. p. 45-46; R. p. 15, lines 10-11). During the plea colloquy the judge advised Respondent, “And you understand that in this particular offense, I can give you anywhere from 0 to 20 years in prison; do you understand that?” (R. p. 11, lines 17-19). Respondent answered, “Yes, sir.” (R. p. 11, line 20). The judge sentenced Respondent to twenty (20) years provided that upon the service of ten (10) years the balance was suspended with five (5) years of probation. (R. p. 45-46; R. p. 27, lines 1-6). The judge also gave Respondent credit for one day served in jail and 991 days served on GPS monitoring and referenced by the prosecution earlier in the plea. (R. p. 45-46; R. p. 27, lines 11-12).

Ten days after the plea the State filed a motion to reconsider sentence arguing that Respondent was not entitled to credit for the time served on GPS monitoring. (R. p. 4). During the hearing on the motion to reconsider the State noted that the bail proceeding form ordered that Respondent was to be placed on GPS monitoring with an exclusionary zone around the victim’s residence and included a no contact provision. (R. p. 2; R. p. 32, lines 21-25). The State argued that Respondent was not entitled to credit for the 992 days served on GPS monitoring because the GPS requirement of bond was not monitored house arrest as provided in S.C. Code §24-13-40(c). (R. pp. 32-34). The State additionally relied on documents from Sentinel, the electronic monitoring company, to argue that Respondent was on GPS monitoring only. (R. p. 32, lines 2-

20). The comments portion of the client orientation form provides that “Client is on GPS ONLY Monitoring.” (R. p. 47).

Counsel for Respondent relied on a six-page contract between Respondent and the electronic monitoring company in support of the fact that Respondent was under house arrest and the judge acted within his discretion by giving credit for the 992 days served. (R. pp. 34-37). The first page of the participant contract provides that, “While on the Electronic Monitoring Program you may be scheduled to be out of your home for work, counseling, drug and alcohol treatment, and additional activities only with prior GCDC approval. Schedule changes must be communicated to your Case Manager 24 hours in advance.” (R. p. 50). Respondent initialed this and other paragraphs included in the contract. Page two of the contract provides program requirements. The paragraph numbered one states that the case manager will establish the initial curfew schedule. (R. p. 51). The paragraph numbered two states that, “You will remain within the walls of your residence while under curfew.” (R. p. 51). Respondent initialed both of these paragraphs. Respondent signed the contract on page six. (R. p. 55).

Counsel for Respondent noted S.C. Code §24-13-1510 for the definition of home detention. (R. p. 35, line 16 – p. 36, lines 1-3). S.C. Code §24-13-1520 provides, “‘Home detention’ means the confinement of a person convicted or charged with a crime to his place of residence under the terms and conditions established by the department.” Counsel for Respondent argued:

But when we talk about GPS monitoring, I think the common definition we would think of is that you have an ankle monitor and you’re allowed to go wherever you please. But that’s not the contract Mr. Quick signed. Those are not the regulations he was under.

He was under terms that required him to be in his residence, terms that required a curfew, terms that did not allow him to leave his home without permission. And

when Sentinel put those regulations on him, they transformed what would normally be GPS into a home detention program.

I think he is absolutely entitled to that credit under the statute. And I think the Court absolutely had discretion to give it to him. And I think that was the proper thing to do considering he was on that program with no violations for a number of years, Your Honor.

(R. p. 37, lines 8-23).

In response to the specific language of the contract establishing curfews during which Respondent was required to remain in his residence and requiring prior approval to be outside the home, the State argued, "It's the State's contention that this is a standard contract that does not delineate between electronic monitoring and GPS monitoring." (R. p. 39, lines 1-3). Although the State asserted that Respondent was free to leave the residence without approval, (R. p. 32, lines 12-13), the State failed to present evidence from the electronic monitoring company to support the assertion in contradiction to the language of the contract.

On October 2, 2023, Judge Kinlaw denied the State's motion to reconsider sentence in a written order. (R. p. 3). Judge Kinlaw acted within his broad discretion by giving Respondent credit for the 992 days he served on GPS monitoring when the monitoring imposed was the equivalent of monitored house arrest. S.C. Code §24-13-40 provides in pertinent part, "In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing, and **may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest.**" (emphasis added). The requirements of the contract between Respondent and the monitoring company establishing curfews during which Respondent was required to remain in his residence and requiring prior approval to be outside the home meet the definition of house arrest, defined as home detention pursuant to S.C. Code §24-13-1520. The State failed to prove that the requirements of the contract did not apply to Respondent. While

the conditions of bail required GPS monitoring rather than house arrest or home detention, the contract with Sentinel, the electronic monitoring required the equivalent of house arrest.

In State v. Field, 429 S.C. 578, 581, 840 S.E.2d 548, 550 (2020), the State appealed an order giving fifteen months of credit for time served on house arrest when the defendant only served five months on house arrest before his attorney moved and the judge granted a motion to remove the house arrest requirement. Fields remained on bond with electronic monitoring for an additional ten months before entering a plea. The South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “We are inclined to agree that the sentencing court did not have the authority to give Field credit for the entire fifteen months.” Field, 429 S.C. at 581, 840 S.E.2d at 550. The Court, however, found the issue was not preserved for appellate review. In contrast, Respondent remained under the requirements of the contract with the monitoring company, requirements that exceeded electronic monitoring, for the entire 992 days. The house arrest requirements set forth in the contract between Respondent and the electronic monitoring company were not removed as the house arrest was removed by the judge in Field. The plea judge had the authority to give Respondent credit for the entire 992 days.

The notation on the client orientation form, “Client is on GPS ONLY Monitoring” (R. p. 47), does not override the requirements provided in the contract that were the equivalent to house arrest. While the bail proceeding form did not require house arrest, the electronic monitoring company apparently did require the equivalent of house arrest. The sentencing judge did not abuse his discretion in giving Respondent credit for the time served on the equivalent of house arrest.

In State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “We hold the authority to change a sentence rests solely and exclusively in the hands of the sentencing judge within the exercise of his discretion.” It was well within the sentencing judge’s broad discretion to deny the State’s motion to reconsider sentence. It was well within the sentencing judge’s broad discretion to give Respondent credit for the time he served on the equivalent of house arrest. The plea was entered without negotiations or recommendation. (R. p. 45-46; R. p. 15, lines 10-11). The judge could have imposed a sentence of between zero and twenty years. (R. p. 11, lines 17-19). The judge could have fashioned a sentence that was equal to the sentence imposed without giving credit for the time served on the equivalent of house arrest. The judge, however, acted within his discretion and gave Respondent credit for the time he served on the equivalent of house arrest. The sentencing judge’s decision to give Respondent credit for 992 days served should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above arguments this Court should affirm the sentence giving credit for the time served on the equivalent of house arrest.


Kathrine H. Hudgins
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT